

Department of Community Medicine

Progression and management of Prediabetes by socioeconomic status and health care consumption. The Tromsø Study 2007-2016.

Dagmawi Yemane

Master's thesis in Public Health, HEL-3950, May 2023

Supervisors: Tom Wilsgaard and Birgit Abelsen



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgment i	V
Summary	v
Abbreviations	'n
Background	1
Introduction	3
Diagnosis of Diabetes	3
HbA1c	3
Use of blood sugar lowering and Insulin containing drugs	3
Healthcare consumption	4
Socioeconomic status	4
Covariates	4
Age	4
Sex	5
Body Mass Index	5
Family history of Diabetes	5
Smoking History	5
Physical Activity	б
Pregnancy	6
Purpose of the Thesis	7
Research Questions	7
Methods and Materials	8
Study Population	8
Study Sample	9

Study Design	
Outcome	10
Exposure	11
Confounders/Mediators	11
Exclusion	12
Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	12
Ethical Considerations	13
Statistical Analysis	14
Models	15
Results	17
Description of the Participants	17
Diagnosis of Diabetes	
Intermediaries in the Association between Education and Diagnosis of Diabetes	
Change in HbA1c	
Discussion	
Diagnosis of Diabetes	33
Change in HbA1c levels between	
Healthcare Consumption	35
Limitations	36
Strengths	
Conclusion	
References	39

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors Tom Wilsgaard and Birgit Abelsen for their invaluable support, guidance, and encouragement throughout my journey in writing this thesis. Their expertise and insights have been instrumental in shaping my work and I am truly grateful for their time, and effort despite their heavy workload. I would also like to thank my teachers for their contribution to my academic journey. Their collective knowledge and experience have been instrumental in shaping me into who I am today.

I am grateful to my family for their unwavering support and encouragement throughout my academic journey. I would like to express my appreciation to my classmates for their unique perspectives, support, and company throughout this journey. Finally, I am also grateful for the wonderful opportunity and experience at UiT – The Arctic University of Norway which has been instrumental in shaping me into who I am today.

SUMMARY

Background: Socioeconomic status and healthcare consumption are considered predictors of diabetes development and quality of blood glucose management. However, studies on the association between socioeconomic status and healthcare consumption in people with prediabetes and these outcomes are scarce.

Objective: To examine the relationship between the development of diabetes in people with prediabetes and socioeconomic status as well as healthcare consumption. Furthermore, blood glucose management in people with prediabetes is also examined as diabetic complications usually occur before the diagnosis of diabetes and can be prevented by screening and early management.

Methods: I used a cohort study using data from two waves of the population-based Tromsø Study utilizing socioeconomic variables, anthropometric variables, healthcare consumption, exercise, and smoking information collected from the questionnaire, and HbA1c data collected from laboratory data along with demographic and information on personal and family history of diabetes. These variables are analyzed using binary logistic regression analysis, linear regression analysis, and mediation analysis.

Main results: From the 2690 participants with prediabetes included in wave 6 of the Tromsø Study, 304 representing 11.3% of participants had developed diabetes at follow up 7-8 years later (wave 7 of the Tromsø Study). Those with an upper secondary level of education had 54% higher odds of a diagnosis of diabetes relative to those with four or more years of college/university level of education. While there was a 0.06-unit change in HbA1c levels in participants with the lowest levels of education compared to those with the highest. Furthermore, those with 5 or more GP visits over the 12 months prior to Tromsø 6 had 74% higher odds of getting diagnosed with diabetes than those with 1 visit.

Conclusions: While the association of healthcare consumption on the progression of the disease in the study participants is not established, there is a socioeconomic association with the development of diabetes and glycemic management.

ABBREVIATIONS

- ADA American Diabetes Association
- BMI Body Mass Index
- CI Confidence Interval
- DCCT Diabetes Control and Complications Trial
- FBG Fasting Blood Glucose
- **GP-** General Practitioner
- HbA1c Hemoglobin A1c
- NGSP National Glycohemoglobin Standardization Program
- OGTT Oral Glucose Tolerance Test
- OR Odds Ratio
- **REK** Research Ethics Committee
- SES Socioeconomic Status

BACKGROUND

Diabetes Mellitus is a chronic metabolic disease that affects millions of people around the world relating to either insulin deficiency or resistance (1). Based on this it is classified into Types 1 and 2, specific types of diabetes due to other causes, and Gestational Diabetes (diabetes associated with pregnancy). Type 1 diabetes is the result of an absolute insulin deficiency secondary to the autoimmune destruction of β -cells and is treated with insulin injections (2). Type 2 diabetes which is the most common type is the result of a combination of impaired insulin secretion and insulin resistance (lack of insulin function) (1). Some of the risk factors for Type 2 Diabetes are obesity, physical inactivity, older age, family history of diabetes, history of gestational diabetes, and genetic predisposition associated with some ethnic groups such as South Asians, Afro-Caribbeans, and Hispanics (3).

Diabetes is one of the most common chronic diseases in Norway with a prevalence of four to seven percent that continues to increase (4–6). In addition, studies from around the world suggest that many people are living with undiagnosed diabetes and prediabetes (7). Diabetes causes several health complications with cardiovascular diseases being the most serious (8). Cardiovascular risk increases with raised glucose values. Furthermore, it is also known to cause organ damage following microvasculature obstruction associated with atherosclerosis (9). This includes diabetes is also associated with liver, pancreatic and endometrial cancers, among a variety of other cancers (11,12). Lack of early detection and care for diabetes results in severe complications, including heart attacks, strokes, renal failure, amputations, and blindness (8,13).

Prediabetes reflects the natural history of progression from normoglycemia to diabetes defined by the presence of Impaired glucose tolerance or Impaired fasting glucose (14). It presents with elevated blood glucose above the normal range but below the diabetic diagnostic threshold. It is common for people to shift between different glycemic states thus requiring follow-up. Studies from around the world including Northern Norway have found prediabetes to be prevalent in around a third of their adult participants (15,16).

The diagnosis of diabetes is based on plasma glucose especially the Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (OGTT) and Fasting Blood Glucose (FBG) as well as by Glycated hemoglobin analysis (HbA1c). The gold standard for diagnosis of diabetes is OGTT which requires overnight fasting and 2 hours with the ingestion of a certain amount of glucose to look at fasting and/or 2-hour blood glucose levels. An alternative that is now a recommended part of the standard of care for testing and monitoring for prediabetes and diabetes is HbA1c (17). It demonstrates an individual's average blood glucose levels over the previous 3 months. It does not require fasting or the ingestion of glucose. By the time of diagnosis of Diabetes patients may have established vascular diseases. The rate of undiagnosed diabetes is geographically and socioeconomically variable with some low-and middle-income countries having rates higher than 50% while in Europe the International Federation of Diabetes reports rates of around a third (18).

Health inequalities in Norway are observed in relation to diabetes in a variety of ways. One of the ways this was observed was with age at first diagnosis being earlier for people born in a different country especially women affecting the management of the diseases (19). The education gradient is also connected to the pharmaceutical management of some of the complications of diabetes (20). Another element is how geography has been seen to play a role in the prevalence of diabetes linked with living in a neighborhood characterized by a relative concentration of fast food and an absence of healthy food shops and physical exercise facilities (21).

Studies looking at the relationship between socioeconomic background and the incidence of diabetes in Norway have shown that low levels of education, income, and occupation as well as foreign country of origin and disadvantaged neighborhood of residence are associated with a higher incidence (21–24). However other studies have found an increase in General Practitioner's (GP) service provision to diabetic patients from a low socioeconomic background (25). Studies looking into the incidence among Sami and Non-Sami populations did not find a significant difference (26–28).

In this thesis, we will be looking into how the progression of diabetes from prediabetes and its management is influenced by socioeconomic status and healthcare consumption.

INTRODUCTION

Diagnosis of Diabetes

A diagnosis of diabetes is established by the presence of one of the following factors: biochemical tests (FBG, OGTT, or HbA1c) within the diabetic range or in patients with classic symptoms of hyperglycemia (polyuria, polydipsia, polyphagia) with a random plasma glucose above or equal to 200mg/dl (29). A reported history of diabetes in a participant detected in regular health follow-ups or by other means is a relevant outcome to be taken into consideration.

HbA1c

The HbA1c has increasingly been recommended to test the longer levels (3 months) of blood glucose control as it has several advantages to the FBG and OGTT, including greater convenience (fasting not required), greater preanalytical stability, and less day-to-day variations due to stress and illness (29).

The test should be performed using a method that is certified by the National Glycohemoglobin Standardization Program (NGSP) and standardized or traceable to the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) reference assay. However, the test may be affected by age (most research is based on adults), race/ethnicity, and anemia/hemoglobinopathies (e.g., Pregnant women and those who have received blood transfusion) of the test takers. The goal glycemic target in non-pregnant adults is less than 7% (30,31). Some studies show that socioeconomic status influences glycemic control noted by HbA1c levels (32).

Use of blood sugar lowering and Insulin containing drugs

The treatment of Diabetes includes lifestyle modifications and pharmacologic interventions. These pharmacologic interventions are used to manage the blood sugar levels in an individual. These drugs may or may not contain insulin within them (33). The use of these medications as part of the standard of care for diabetes is aimed at preventing complications (especially the heart and the kidney) related to the disease (34).

Healthcare consumption

Norway has a well-developed universal health care system which nevertheless requires a small patient co-payment. Almost all citizens are registered with a GP who acts as a gatekeeper to specialized care (35). Most patients with diabetes especially with type 2 diabetes are followed up in the primary health care system by GPs. However, patients with type 1 and some type 2 diabetes are followed up by specialists in areas such as internal medicine or endocrinology (36).

Primary prevention of chronic noncommunicable diseases such as type 2 diabetes is based on the adjustment of the natural history of the disease by modifying known risk factors such as diet and weight. The diagnosis of prediabetes is a gateway for possible lifestyle changes such as dietary and physical activity interventions to decrease the risk of development of diabetes (37). In addition, a more thorough follow-up of patients with prediabetes can lead to a reduction of undiagnosed diabetes as well as the organ damage that occurs before the diagnosis of diabetes (38). However, the impact healthcare consumption has on the diagnosis of diabetes and the level of glycemic control in people who have prediabetes is unclear (38–41).

Socioeconomic status

Health inequality is one of the major concerns of the Norwegian government (42). Despite Norway being one of the most equitable and developed nations on the planet with a population generally enjoying good health systematic inequities linger (43). Life expectancy, quality of life, health care system interactions, and utilization are unevenly distributed among social groups in the population according to income, educational status, geography, and country of birth (21,44,45). The prioritization of health equality becomes even more pertinent with the aging population as these inequities have been seen to worsen with it (46,47).

Covariates

Age

Diabetes is highly prevalent in the aging population with over one-quarter of people over the age of 65 years having diabetes, and half of older adults having prediabetes. Improvements in insulin delivery, technology, and care have led to an increasing prevalence of diabetes in older age (48).

However, the incidence of diabetes increases with age until about age 65 years after which it seems to plateau (49).

Sex

Studies show that men have a higher prevalence of diabetes than women. Furthermore, the age of onset of a new diagnosis is also somewhat earlier among men with rising prevalence as they age peaking at 55–59 years. On the other hand, women are at risk of pregnancy-related diabetes which also influences future incidence of diabetes (50,51).

Body Mass Index

Body Mass Index (BMI) is calculated from height and weight with weight in kilograms divided by the square of height in meters (37). This helps in documenting the weight status of an individual with those with a BMI between 25 and 29.9 being considered overweight and those higher than 30 being considered different classes of obesity. Obesity is chronic and often progressive with multiple complications including an increased risk of diabetes. The management of obesity has been shown to lead to a delay in the progression from prediabetes to type 2 diabetes (37).

Family history of Diabetes

Family history of diabetes which includes a history of diabetes from maternal, paternal, or siblings has been shown to lead to an earlier and higher incidence of diabetes in an individual. This is linked to genetic factors that also predispose to central obesity as well as a higher risk of insulin resistance among other factors (52–55).

Smoking History

Tobacco use in general and smoking, in particular, has been associated with a higher risk among adults with chronic conditions as well as in adolescents and young adults with diabetes. Studies have shown that smoking may have a role in the development of type 2 diabetes (56). However, the years immediately following the cessation of smoking may represent a time of increased risk for diabetes. As such this is a time when individuals should be monitored for diabetes development and receive lifestyle and behavior change interventions for diabetes prevention (34).

Physical Activity

The term physical activity comprises all movement that utilizes energy and is an important part of diabetes prevention and management. While exercise is a structured and designed physical activity to improve physical fitness. These are related to an individual's BMI, blood glucose levels, and cardiovascular health (56). Studies have demonstrated a significant reduction or delay in the incidence of Type 2 diabetes in adults among those on intensive lifestyle interventions. The American Diabetes Association (ADA) recommends 150 minutes per week of moderate-intensity physical activity, such as brisk walking in participants with diabetes along with a low-calorie diet (34).

Pregnancy

Pregnancy is associated with several health conditions including hypertension and diabetes(57). During pregnancy, a woman could develop a type of diabetes called Gestational Diabetes (57). This is usually diagnosed with the same diagnostic measurements used for other types of diabetes (57). The management of gestational diabetes might require the use of glucose-lowering or insulin-containing drugs (57). However, this type of diabetes resolves after the termination of pregnancy. Nevertheless, it is often associated with the development of Gestational Diabetes in a future pregnancy, conversion to type 2 diabetes as well as its effects on the fetus (57).

PURPOSE OF THE THESIS

To my knowledge, no studies have examined the relationship between the diagnosis of diabetes and blood glucose management in people with prediabetes and socioeconomic status as well as healthcare consumption. In this thesis, we examine the eventual progression from prediabetes to diabetes and the role of socioeconomic status and healthcare consumption. The relationship between the management of blood glucose level (glycemic control) and socioeconomic status and healthcare consumption is another aspect that we will explore in this study.

This thesis aims to enhance the understanding of how socioeconomic status and healthcare consumption influence the eventual development and management of diabetes among Norwegians with prediabetes. This is a timely and important topic as Norway faces a growing prevalence of diabetes and with possible undiagnosed cases screening and prevention programs for those at a higher risk are important. Furthermore, the management of blood glucose plays an important part in the prevention of diabetic complications that occur even before the diagnosis of diabetes.

RESEARCH QUESTIONS

- 1. What is the relationship between socioeconomic status and the development of diabetes in participants with prediabetes?
- 2. What is the relationship between socioeconomic status and change in HbA1c in participants with prediabetes?
- 3. What is the relationship between healthcare consumption and the development of diabetes as well as the change in HbA1c in participants with prediabetes?

The socioeconomic variable that is being considered is the level of education. Healthcare consumption is measured as the number of GP consultations in the 12 months before the surveys.

METHODS AND MATERIALS

This is a cohort study using data from two waves of the population-based Tromsø Study conducted every 7-8 years. I used socioeconomic variables, anthropometric variables, healthcare consumption, exercise, and smoking information collected from the questionnaire, and HbA1c data collected from laboratory data along with demographic and information on personal and family history of diabetes.

To define the HbA1c range of normoglycemic, prediabetic, and diabetic participants I am using the WHO guidelines (58) with those being termed as prediabetic having an HbA1c level between 5.7% and 6.4% while those who are termed as diabetic having an HbA1c level of 6.5% and higher.

Study Population

The Tromsø Study is a large population-based longitudinal study among inhabitants of the Tromsø municipality, Northern Norway, with a population of around 75,000 (59). The study was initiated in 1974, and seven data collections (Tromsø1–7) have been performed to date involving 45,473 residents attending one or more surveys. The study has collected comprehensive data on health and socio-demographic factors using various techniques such as questionnaires, biological samples, and clinical surveys. The main reason for the initiation of the Tromsø Study in 1974 had been to further the understanding of the causes of the high cardiovascular deaths in Norway and especially in Northern Norway but was later on expanded to study other chronic diseases as well (60).

Study Sample

I used data from people who participated in Tromsø 6 (2007–2008) and Tromsø 7 (2015–2016), who answered the questions on the required variables. I looked at those who were prediabetic in Tromsø 6 with follow-up of HbA1c and diabetes status in Tromsø 7 (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Flow Chart of participants. The Tromsø Study 2007-2016.



Study Design

The variable selections were based on the current literature, looking at the relationship between the outcome, exposure, and covariates. The outcome of a diagnosis of diabetes is based on the combination of self-reported diabetes, the use of antidiabetic medication, and/or HbA1c levels in the diabetic range. Body mass index (BMI) is to be categorized based on WHO guidelines with those below 18.5 being underweight, between 18.5 and 24.9 normal weight, between 25 and 29.9 pre-obesity and those above 30 being obese (39).

Outcome

HBA1C: This continuous variable was based on a blood sample that was collected in the two consecutive Tromsø surveys (Tromsø 6 and 7) and was analyzed within 24 hours at UNN (laboratory ISO certification NS-EN ISO 15189:2012). This variable on top of being used as an outcome measurement also served as an exclusion criterion for the sample from Tromsø 6. For that purpose, those outside the prediabetes range are excluded.

Reported Diabetes diagnosis: This binary variable was based on the answer to the questionnaire question "Do you have, or have you had diabetes?" with responses coded as 0 for No and 1 for Yes. This variable beyond being used as an outcome measurement also served as an exclusion criterion for the sample from Tromsø 6.

Blood glucose lowering drugs: This binary variable was based on the answer to the questionnaire question "Drugs containing blood glucose lowering drugs exl insulin ATC=A10B and/or DIABETES_TABLETS_T6=1" with responses coded as 0 for No and 1 for Yes. This variable beyond being used as an outcome measurement also served as an exclusion criterion for the sample from Tromsø 6.

Insulin-containing drugs: This binary variable was based on the answer to the questionnaire question "Drugs containing insulin ATC=A10A and/or INSULIN_T6=1" with responses coded as 0 for No and 1 for Yes. This variable beyond being used as an outcome measurement also served as an exclusion criterion for the sample from Tromsø 6.

A new variable was computed for those who developed diabetes by Tromsø 7 by using a positive result in any of the variables for HbA1c above 6.5%, history of diabetes, and those on insulincontaining drugs or glucose-lowering drugs coding as 1 while a negative in all coding as 0.

Exposure

Education level: This categorical variable was based on answers to the question "What is the highest levels of education you have completed?" with responses coded as 1 for "Primary/secondary school, modern secondary school", 2 for "Technical school, vocational school, 1-2 years senior high school", 3 for "High school diploma", 4 for "College/university less than 4 years" and 5 for "College/university 4 years or more".

Health care consumption: This continuous variable was based on answers to the question "If you have visited a general practitioner (GP) the last 12 months, how many visits have you made?".

Confounders/Mediators

Age: This categorical variable was categorized from the age of participants collected during Tromsø 6. It has been categorized into groups with 10 years and has been coded as 30 for those between the ages of 30 and 39, 40 for those between the ages of 40 and 49, 50 for those between the ages of 50 and 59, 60 for those between the ages of 60 and 69, 70 for those between the ages of 70 and 79 and 80 for those 80 years old and above.

Sex: This binary variable is coded as 0 for females and 1 for males.

Family history of Diabetes: This binary variable is compiled from the answers to the questionnaire questions "Mother or father has or has had diabetes", "Child has or had diabetes" and "Sibling(s) has or had diabetes" from Tromsø 6 with responses coded as 0 for No and 1 for Yes.

Body mass index: This categorical variable from Tromsø 6 was calculated from weight and height measurements which were measured with light clothing and no shoes with a Jenix DS-102 scale (DongSahn Jenix, Seoul, Korea). These were categorized into groups and coded as 1 for those with an index less than 25, 2 for those with 25, and higher but less than 30, and 3 for those with 30 or higher.

Level of Physical Activity: This categorical variable from Tromsø 6 was based on answers to the question "Describe your exercise and physical exertion in leisure time over the last year. If your activity varies throughout the year, give an average." with response categorized into Sedentary for those reporting "Reading, watching TV, or other sedentary activity?", Mild for those reporting "Walking, cycling, or other forms of exercise at least 4 hours a week? (including walking or cycling to places of work, Sunday-walking, etc.)", Moderate for those reporting "Participation in recreational sports, heavy gardening, etc.? (note: duration of activity at least 4 hours a week.)" and Heavy for those reporting "Participation in hard training or sports competitions, regularly several times a week?". These categories were coded as 1 for Sedentary, 2 for Mild, 3 for Moderate, and 4 for Heavy.

Smoking history: This categorical variable from Tromsø 6 was based on answers to the question "Do you/did you smoke daily?" with responses coded as 1 for "Yes, now", 2 for "Yes, previously" and 3 for "Never".

Exclusion

Recent history of Pregnancy: This categorical variable from Tromsø 6 and 7 was based on answers to the question "Are you pregnant at the moment?" with responses coded as 1 for "Yes", 2 for "No" and 3 for "Uncertain".

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

As shown in Figure 1 participants included have HbA1c levels within a prediabetic range in Tromsø 6 in 2007/08 (between 5.7% and 6.4%) and followed up in Tromsø 7 in 2015/16. While excluding those with missing data on socioeconomic status variables, GP visits, and HbA1c in Tromsø 6. Furthermore, prevalent cases defined as those with diabetes at the baseline based on self-reported diabetes, use of antidiabetic medications, and an HbA1c level above 6.5% (\geq 48 mmol/mol) are excluded. In addition, those who were pregnant during Tromsø 6 and 7 are excluded.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical considerations taken for this study include the anonymization of study participants by categorization and the limitation of identifying variables beyond what is necessary. The data requested was anonymous and could not be traced back to individuals. REK approval was not necessary. The data was stored in a password-protected computer. The data will be deleted after the completion of this research study.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

All analyses were conducted using R and Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 29. For this thesis results with p-values less than 0.05 are taken as statistically significant.

The data was checked for any errors and cleaned. For the analysis, the age groups were combined from 10-year ranges to 20-year ranges to avoid underpowering. Similarly, the group with high school diplomas was merged with those with some high school education, vocational education, and technical school education. The group with heavy levels of physical activity was merged with those with moderate physical activity.

The number of GP consultations over the 12 months prior to Tromsø 6 was categorized into its quartile. A new variable was computed from the change in HbA1c from Tromsø 6 to 7 by subtracting the HbA1c result collected during Tromsø 7 from the result collected during Tromsø 6.

Logistic regression models were employed to evaluate the association between the computed diabetes variable as the dependent variable and education as well as the number of GP consultations as the independent. This was done after making sure that assumptions of non-multicollinearity and linearity were fulfilled, in addition to checking for outliers.

Linear regression models were used when the change in HbA1c levels from Tromsø 6 to Tromsø 7 was included as a continuous outcome.

Furthermore, the relationship between the diagnosis of diabetes, as well as the change in HbA1c levels from Tromsø 6 to Tromsø 7 and healthcare consumption, was assessed in models with the diagnosis of diabetes as a dependent variable and the number of GP visits during Tromsø 6 as an independent variable was assessed using logistic and linear regressions, respectively.

In all regression models, age, sex, and history of diabetes were added as possible confounding factors.

An interaction test was done to assess the interaction between education and sex by including both main effects and cross-product terms between sex and indicator variables for each category of education in separate regression models.

For this thesis based on literature, we have taken BMI, level of physical activity, and smoking history as possible mediators since they are influenced by education and are known to affect the diagnosis and management of diabetes. Therefore, mediation analysis was done using the MEDFLEX package on R.

Models

The result section presents seven different models:

Model 1: The diagnosis of Diabetes was used as the dependent variable in a binary logistic regression analysis with the level of education adjusted for age, sex, and family history of diabetes taken as the independent variable. *(Table 3)*

Model 2: Subgroup analysis for model 1 was conducted for sex. (Table 3)

Model 3: The total, direct, and indirect effects of the association between the diagnosis of diabetes and education were examined using mediation analyses, with BMI, level of physical activity, and smoking history as possible mediators adjusted for age, sex, and family history of diabetes. (*Tables 4 and 5*)

Model 4: The change in HbA1c levels between Tromsø 6 and 7 was used as the dependent variable in a multiple linear regression analysis with the level of education adjusted for age, sex, and family history of diabetes as the independent variable. *(Table 6)*

Model 5: Subgroup analysis for model 4 was conducted for sex. (Table 6)

Model 6: The total, direct, and indirect effects of the association between the change in HbA1c levels and education were examined using mediation analyses, with BMI, level of physical activity, and smoking history as possible mediators adjusted for age, sex, and family history of diabetes. (*Tables 7 and 8*)

Model 6: The diagnosis of Diabetes was used as the dependent variable in a binary logistic regression analysis with the number of GP consultations over 12 months prior to Tromsø 6 taken as the independent variable. (*Table 9*)

Model 7: The change in HbA1c levels between Tromsø 6 and 7 was used as the dependent variable in a multiple linear regression analysis with the number of GP consultations over 12 months prior to Tromsø 6 as the independent variable. (*Table 10*)

RESULTS

Description of the Participants

The thesis included 2690 participants who fulfilled the inclusion and exclusion criteria mentioned above and as such were prediabetic in Tromsø 6 and followed up in Tromsø 7. The participants were divided into two groups based on the compiled diabetes variable using a positive result for HbA1c above 6.5, history of diabetes, and those on insulin-containing drugs or glucose-lowering drugs in Tromsø 7. Those who developed diabetes numbered 304 representing 11.3% of participants and those who did not develop diabetes numbered 2386 representing 88.7%.

As seen in Table 1 the two groups are compared on various variables such as sex, age, education, GP visits, family history of diabetes, body mass index, physical activity, and smoking history. The two groups had similar proportions of males (50.1%) and females (49.9%) with similar age distributions.

Overall, 31.7% of the participants had a college/university degree. Furthermore, the diabetic group had lower levels of education than the non-diabetic group, with fewer participants having a college/university degree (27.6% vs 32.3%). The diabetic group had more GP visits over the 12 months prior to Tromsø 6 on average (3.88 vs 3.18) than the non-diabetic group with a further increase in the average number of GP visits prior to Tromsø 7 (0.62 vs 0.45).

Table 1 also shows that 22.5% of the participants had a family history of diabetes with the diabetic group having a higher percentage of participants with a family history of diabetes than the non-diabetic group (30.9% vs 21.4%). In addition, the diabetic group had a higher percentage of obese participants than the non-diabetic group (44.6% vs 22.1%), and a lower percentage of participants with a body mass index less than 25 (8.3% vs 30.1%). Nevertheless, overall the most common BMI was within the overweight range (25 - 29.9) (47.8%) with relatively equal distribution among both groups.

Table 1 additionally shows that the diabetic group had a higher percentage of participants who were sedentary compared to those who were moderately or heavily physically active than the non-diabetic group (28.1% vs 14% and 17.3% vs 18.1%, respectively). However, the two groups had similar smoking histories, with similar percentages of current smokers, former smokers, and never-smokers.

	Glycemic State		
	Total	Non-Diabetic	Diabetic
N	2690 (100)	2386 (88.7)	304 (11.3)
Sex			
Female	1343 (49.9)	1201 (50.3)	142 (46.7)
Male	1347 (50.1)	1185 (49.7)	162 (53.3)
Age			
30-49	443 (16.5)	396 (16.6)	47 (15.5)
50-69	1795 (66.7)	1591 (66.7)	204 (67.1)
70+	452 (16.8)	399 (16.7)	53 (17.4)
Level of Education			
Primary	873 (32.5)	771 (32.3)	102 (33.6)
Upper Secondary	962 (35.8)	844 (35.4)	118 (38.8)
University College < 4 years	429 (15.9)	380 (15.9)	49 (16.1)
University College \geq 4 years	426 (15.8)	391 (16.4)	35 (11.5)
Number of GP visits ²			
Mean	3.42	3.18	3.88
Median	2	2	3
Standard Deviation	3.39	2.92	3.71
Range	55	44	29
Quartiles (25, 50, 75)	1, 2, 4	1,2,4	2,3,5

Table 1. Descriptive characteristics by Diagnosis of Diabetes¹, The Tromsø Study 2007 - 2016

Glycemic State			
	Total	Non-Diabetic	Diabetic
Change in number of GP visits ³			
Mean	0.47	0.45	0.62
Median	0	0	0
Standard Deviation	4.03	3.99	4.41
Range	71	71	28
Quartiles (25, 50, 75)	-1, 0, 2	-1, 0, 2	-1, 0, 2
Family History of Diabetes			
Yes	605 (22.5)	511 (21.4)	94 (30.9)
No	2085 (77.5)	1875 (78.6)	210 (69.1)
Body Mass Index			
<25, n (%)	743 (27.6)	718 (30.1)	25 (8.3)
25 – 29.9, n (%)	1284 (47.8)	1141 (47.8)	143 (47.2)
> 30, n (%)	661 (24.6)	526 (22.1)	135 (44.6)
Physical Activity			
Sedentary	452 (18.5)	376 (17.3)	76 (28.1)
Mild	1563 (63.9)	1406 (64.6)	157 (57.9)
Moderate and Heavy	431 (17.6)	393 (18.1)	38 (14)
Smoking History			
Smoking daily	605 (22.8)	537 (22.8)	68 (22.7)
Previously smoked daily	1205 (45.4)	1070 (45.4)	135 (45.0)
Never smoked	847 (31.9)	750 (31.8)	97 (32.3)

*Table 1. Descriptive characteristics by Diagnosis of Diabetes*¹, *The Tromsø Study* 2007 – 2016 (cont.)

¹Values are number (percent)

²Number of GP visits in the 12 months prior to Tromsø 6

³Change in number of GP visits in the 12 months prior to Tromsø 6 and Tromsø 7

Table 2 shows the change in HbA1c levels between two surveys (Tromsø 6 and 7) among the participants by various categories such as sex, age, education, body mass index, physical activity, and smoking history. On average participants had a slight increase (0.095) in their HbA1c levels between Tromsø 6 and 7. With a minimum decrease of 0.9 and a maximum increase of 6.6. There is a very slight difference for men and women with the mean change in HbA1c levels for females being 0.087 and for males being 0.104.

The mean change in HbA1c levels for the age groups 30-49, 50-69, and 70+ were 0.108, 0.090, and 0.104, respectively. The mean change in HbA1c levels for the education groups for the increasing levels of education were 0.117, 0.099, 0.075, and 0.064, respectively, which shows that those with a lower level of education had a higher increase in HbA1c levels than those with a higher level of education.

Table 2 also shows that the mean change in HbA1c levels for participants with a BMI less than 25, overweight, and obese showed an increasing pattern (0.047, 0.090, and 0.156, respectively). The mean change in HbA1c levels for participants with sedentary, mild, and moderate/heavy levels of physical activity were 0.127, 0.090, and 0.075, respectively, which shows that those with low levels of physical activity had a slightly higher mean increase in HbA1c levels than those with even mild or moderate/heavy physical activity. However, participants without a history of smoking had a slightly higher increase in HbA1c levels than those that smoked daily or had previously smoked daily (0.105 vs 0.090 vs 0.090).

Additionally, as shown in Table 2 a positive family history of diabetes showed a higher mean increase in HbA1c than those without a family history of diabetes (0.129 vs 0.086). Furthermore, participants with a personal history of diabetes, as well as those using insulin-containing or glucose-lowering drugs, had a higher mean increase in HbA1c levels compared to those that did not (0.585 vs 0.060).

	Minimum,	Mean	Standard
	Maximum		Deviation
Overall	-0.90, 6.60	0.095	0.400
Sex			
Female	-0.90, 6.60	0.087	0.405
Male	-0.80, 3.80	0.104	0.394
Age			
30-49	-0.80, 5.60	0.108	0.515
50-69	-0.90, 6.60	0.090	0.387
70+	-0.90, 1.60	0.104	0.313
Level of Education			
Primary	-0.90, 6.60	0.117	0.461
Upper Secondary	-0.90, 3.80	0.099	0.397
University College < 4 years	-0.80, 2.60	0.075	0.325
University College \geq 4 years	-0.80, 3.40	0.064	0.332
Body Mass Index			
<25	-0.90, 2.70	0.048	0.263
25 - 29.9	-0.80, 5.60	0.090	0.349
> 30	-0.90, 6.60	0.157	0.565
Physical Activity			
Sedentary	-0.90, 3.10	0.127	0.465
Mild	-0.80, 3.80	0.090	0.344
Moderate and Heavy	-0.50, 5.60	0.075	0.414
Smoking History			
Smoking daily	-0.70, 2.80	0.092	0.388
Previously smoked daily	-0.90, 5.60	0.090	0.387
Never smoked	-0.90, 6.60	0.105	0.429

*Table 2. Descriptive characteristics by Change in HbA1c levels*¹, *The Tromsø Study* 2007 - 2016

	Minimum,	Mean	Standard
	Maximum		Deviation
Family History of Diabetes			
Yes	-0.80, 6.60	0.129	0.490
No	-0.90, 5.60	0.086	0.369
Diagnosis of Diabetes			
Yes	-0.90, 6.60	0.656	0.833
No	-0.90, 0.70	0.024	0.217
History of diabetes and use of			
medication for Diabetes ²			
Yes	-0.90, 5.60	0.585	0.909
No	-0.90, 6.60	0.060	0.306

*Table 2. Descriptive characteristics by Change in HbA1c levels*¹, *The Tromsø Study* 2007 – 2016 (cont.)

¹Change in HbA1c levels between Tromsø 6 and Tromsø 7

²Reproted history of diabetes and use of insulin or glucose-lowering medication during Tromsø 6

Diagnosis of Diabetes

Table 3 presents the association between the diagnosis of diabetes and education adjusted for age, sex, and family history of diabetes in participants with prediabetes. The findings show that there is a statistically significant 54% higher odds of diabetes in those with an upper secondary school education compared to those with 4 or more years of college/university (odds ratio (OR) 1.54; 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.03, 2.29).

Furthermore, sex-specific models showed a borderline significant 95% higher odds of diabetes in women with a college/university education of less than 4 years compared to women with 4 or more years of college/university education (OR 1.95; 95% CI 1.03, 2.29). (Table 3) The association between the diagnosis of diabetes adjusted for age and family history of diabetes and education in men with prediabetes was found not to be statistically significant (p > 0.05).

An interaction test looking at the effects of sex on the relationship between education and diagnosis of diabetes was done. However, there was not a statistically significant interaction between them (p > 0.05).

Table 3. Odds ratios for diagnosis of diabetes according to Education overall and by sex¹, The Tromsø Study 2007 - 2016

OR (95% CI)	p-value
1 (Reference)	
1.37 (0.87, 2.17)	0.177
1.54 (1.03, 2.29)	0.034
1.48 (0.98, 2.22)	0.063
1 (Reference)	
1.95 (0.99, 3.86)	0.055
1.59 (0.88, 2.88)	0.125
1.64 (0.90, 2.97)	0.105
1 (Reference)	
1.06 (0.57, 1.97)	0.854
1.48 (0.86, 2.52)	0.155
1.38 (0.78, 2.44)	0.267
	OR (95% CI) 1 (Reference) 1.37 (0.87, 2.17) 1.54 (1.03, 2.29) 1.48 (0.98, 2.22) 1 (Reference) 1.95 (0.99, 3.86) 1.59 (0.88, 2.88) 1.64 (0.90, 2.97) 1 (Reference) 1.06 (0.57, 1.97) 1.48 (0.86, 2.52) 1.38 (0.78, 2.44)

OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval

¹Adjusted for age, family history of diabetes, and in the overall sex.

Intermediaries in the Association between Education and Diagnosis of Diabetes

Table 4 presents that there is a statistically significant mediating effect of BMI, level of physical activity, and smoking history in the analysis of the association between the diagnosis of diabetes and education in participants with prediabetes. However, only those with upper secondary education relative to those with 4 or more years of college/university education had a statistically

significant association with the diagnosis of diabetes. In this group, the proportion explained by the diabetes risk factors (BMI, level of physical activity, and smoking history) was 43.6%.

Furthermore, as presented in Table 4 in sex-specific models there is a statistically significant mediating effect of BMI, level of physical activity, and smoking history in women with prediabetes on the relationship between the diagnosis of diabetes and education. We observed a significant natural indirect effect in women with primary education relative to those with 4 or more years of college/university education, OR=1.19 (95% CI 1.02, 1.38). Nevertheless, we did not observe a statistically significant total effect in the association between the predictor and the outcome.

On the other hand, there is a statistically significant mediating effect of BMI, level of physical activity, and smoking history in men with prediabetes on the relationship between education and diagnosis of diabetes. Nevertheless, we did not observe a statistically significant total effect in the association between the predictor and the outcome.

Table 4. Odds ratios for the causal mediation of Diabetes risk factors¹ on the association between education² and diagnosis of diabetes, natural direct effect (NDE), natural indirect effect (NIE), and total effect (TE) and their corresponding 95% confidence intervals by sex. The Tromsø Study 2007 - 2016

Education	NDE	NIE	ТЕ
Overall, n=2310			
University college \geq 4 years	1 (Reference)	1 (Reference)	1 (Reference)
University college < 4 years	1.17 (0.73, 1.91)	1.19 (1.06, 1.31)	1.39 (0.87, 2.27)
Upper Secondary	1.35 (0.90, 2.05)	1.20 (1.07, 1.32)	1.62 (1.08, 2.48)
Primary	1.19 (0.73, 1.92)	1.25 (1.10, 1.40)	1.43 (0.94, 2.25)
Female, n=1098			
University college \geq 4 years	1 (Reference)	1 (Reference)	1 (Reference)
University college < 4 years	1.95 (0.98, 3.90)	0.97 (0.85, 1.12)	1.92 (0.95, 3.94)
Upper Secondary	1.42 (0.77, 2.64)	1.11 (0.96, 1.26)	1.57 (0.86, 3.00)
Primary	1.26 (0.66, 2.39)	1.19 (1.02, 1.38)	1.49 (0.81, 2.89)
Male, n=1212			
University college \geq 4 years	1 (Reference)	1 (Reference)	1 (Reference)
University college < 4 years	0.80 (0.41, 1.52)	1.41 (1.16, 1.70)	1.12 (0.59, 2.18)
Upper Secondary	1.23 (0.70, 2.18)	1.34 (1.13, 1.57)	1.65 (0.96, 2.97)
Primary	1.06 (0.57, 1.99)	1.34 (1.09, 1.65)	1.42 (0.80, 2.67)

¹Body mass index, smoking history, and level of physical activity.

²Adjusted for age, family history of diabetes, and in the overall sex.

Table 5 presents a breakdown of the mediating effects of each of the risk factors collectively presented in Table 4. This shows that a significant fraction of the intermediate effect is due to BMI with the proportion explained by BMI in participants with upper secondary education relative to those with 4 or more years of college/university education was 38%.

Table 5. Odds ratios for the causal mediation of Diabetes risk factors¹ on the association between education² and diagnosis of diabetes, natural direct effect (NDE), natural indirect effect (NIE), and total effect (TE) and their corresponding 95% confidence intervals by each considered risk factor. The Tromsø Study 2007 - 2016

Education	NDE	NIE	ТЕ
BMI, n=2310			
University college \geq 4 years	1 (Reference)	1 (Reference)	1 (Reference)
University college < 4 years	1.20 (0.75, 1.93)	1.16 (1.06, 1.27)	1.42 (0.89, 2.27)
Upper Secondary	1.39 (0.91, 2.10)	1.17 (1.07, 1.27)	1.62 (1.08, 2.46)
Primary	1.22 (0.80, 1.90)	1.17 (1.07, 1.28)	1.42 (0.93, 2.23)
Physical Activity, n=2310			
University college \geq 4 years	1 (Reference)	1 (Reference)	1 (Reference)
University college < 4 years	1.39 (0.86, 2.25)	1.01 (0.97, 1.04)	1.39 (0.86, 2.27)
Upper Secondary	1.58 (1.05, 2.41)	1.02 (0.99, 1.05)	1.62 (1.08, 2.48)
Primary	1.35 (0.86, 2.09)	1.07 (1.02, 1.13)	1.43 (0.94, 2.25)
Smoking, n=2310			
University college \geq 4 years	1 (Reference)	1 (Reference)	1 (Reference)
University college < 4 years	1.41 (0.86, 2.27)	1.00 (0.95, 1.04)	1.39 (0.87, 2.27)
Upper Secondary	1.63 (1.06, 2.48)	0.99 (0.94, 1.05)	1.62 (1.08, 2.48)
Primary	1.45 (0.92, 2.29)	0.99 (0.92, 1.07)	1.43 (0.94, 2.25)

¹Body mass index, smoking history, and level of physical activity.

²Adjusted for age, family history of diabetes, and sex.

Change in HbA1c

Table 6 presents that there is a statistically significant (p = 0.02) relationship between the change in HbA1c levels between Tromsø 6 and 7 and education in participants with prediabetes at baseline in Tromsø 6. The change in HbA1c for those with primary education is 0.06 units higher than those with 4 or more years of college/university education.

Furthermore, as presented in Table 6 in sex-specific models the association between the change in HbA1c and education adjusted in women with prediabetes was found not to be statistically

significant (p > 0.05). However, there was a statistically significant (p = 0.01 and 0.03) relationship between the change in HbA1c and education in men with prediabetes at baseline in Tromsø 6. The mean change in HbA1c for those with upper secondary and primary education was 0.08 units higher than those with 4 or more years of college/university education.

An interaction test was done to examine the effects of sex on the relationship between the diagnosis of diabetes and education. There is a statistically significant interaction among those with upper secondary education (p = 0.03).

Table 6. Linear Regression coefficients for the association between the change in HbA1c levels and education overall and by sex¹, The Tromsø Study 2007 - 2016

Education	β (95% CI)	p-value
Overall, n=2690		
University college \geq 4 years	0 (Reference)	
University college < 4 years	0.01 (-0.05, 0.06)	0.81
Upper Secondary	0.03 (-0.01, 0.08)	0.15
Primary	0.06 (0.01, 0.10)	0.02
Women, n=1343		
University college \geq 4 years	0 (Reference)	
University college < 4 years	0.00 (-0.08, 0.08)	0.96
Upper Secondary	-0.02 (-0.08, 0.05)	0.64
Primary	0.04 (-0.02, 0.11)	0.22
Men, n=1347		
University college \geq 4 years	0 (Reference)	
University college < 4 years	0.02 (-0.05, 0.09)	0.58
Upper Secondary	0.08 (0.02, 0.15)	0.01
Primary	0.08 (0.01, 0.14)	0.03

β, coefficient, CI, Confidence Interval

¹Adjusted for age, family history of diabetes, and in the overall sex.

As presented in Table 7 there was a statistically significant mediating effect of BMI, level of physical activity, and smoking history in participants with prediabetes at baseline on the association between the change in HbA1c and education in participants with upper secondary as well as primary education relative to those with 4 or more years of college/university education. The proportion explained by the diabetes risk factors (BMI, level of physical activity, and smoking history) was 20%.

However, as presented in Table 7 in sex-specific models there was not a statistically significant mediating effect of BMI, level of physical activity, and smoking history in women with prediabetes at baseline in Tromsø 6 on the relationship between the change in HbA1c and education. On the other hand, there is a statistically significant mediating effect of BMI, level of physical activity, and smoking history in men with prediabetes at baseline on the relationship between the change in HbA1c and education in those with upper secondary as well as primary education relative to those with 4 or more years of college/university education. The proportions explained by the mediating factors were 30% and 25%, respectively.

Table 7. Linear regression coefficients for the causal mediation of Diabetes risk factors¹ on the association between education² and the change in HbA1c levels, natural direct effect (NDE), natural indirect effect (NIE), and total effect (TE) and their corresponding 95% confidence intervals by sex. The Tromsø Study 2007 - 2016

Education	NDE	NIE	ТЕ
Overall, n=2310			
University college \geq 4 years	0 (Reference)	0 (Reference)	0 (Reference)
University college < 4 years	0.00 (-0.04, 0.05)	0.01 (0.00, 0.01)	0.01 (-0.04, 0.06)
Upper Secondary	0.04 (0.00, 0.08)	0.01 (0.00, 0.02)	0.05 (0.00, 0.09)
Primary	0.04 (-0.01, 0.09)	0.01 (0.00, 0.02)	0.05 (0.00, 0.10)
Female, n=1098			
University college \geq 4 years	0 (Reference)	0 (Reference)	0 (Reference)
University college < 4 years	0.00 (-0.07, 0.07)	0.00 (0.00, 0.00)	0.00 (-0.08, 0.08)
Upper Secondary	-0.01 (-0.06, 0.05)	0.00 (-0.01, 0.01)	-0.01 (-0.07, 0.05)
Primary	0.04 (-0.04, 0.11)	0.00 (-0.02, 0.01)	0.03 (-0.03, 0.10)
Male, n=1212			
University college \geq 4 years	0 (Reference)	0 (Reference)	0 (Reference)
University college < 4 years	0.00 (-0.06, 0.06)	0.03 (0.01, 0.05)	0.03 (-0.05, 0.10)
Upper Secondary	0.07 (0.01, 0.13)	0.03 (0.00, 0.04)	0.10 (0.03, 0.16)
Primary	0.06 (-0.01, 0.12)	0.02 (0.00, 0.05)	0.08 (0.00, 0.15)

¹Body mass index, smoking history, and level of physical activity.

²Adjusted for age, family history of diabetes, and in the overall sex.

Table 8 presents a breakdown of the mediating effects of each of the risk factors collectively presented in Table 7. This shows that once again a significant fraction of the intermediate effect is due to BMI with the proportion explained by BMI in participants with upper secondary as well as primary education relative to those with 4 or more years of college/university education being 20%.

Table 8. Linear regression coefficients for the causal mediation of Diabetes risk factors¹ on the association between education² and diagnosis of diabetes, natural direct effect (NDE), natural indirect effect (NIE), and total effect (TE) and their corresponding 95% confidence intervals by each considered risk factor. The Tromsø Study 2007 - 2016

Education	NDE	NIE	ТЕ
BMI, n=2310			
University college \geq 4 years	0 (Reference)	0 (Reference)	0 (Reference)
University college < 4 years	0.00 (-0.04, 0.05)	0.01 (0.00, 0.01)	0.01 (-0.04, 0.06)
Upper Secondary	0.04 (0.00, 0.08)	0.01 (0.00, 0.01)	0.05 (0.00, 0.09)
Primary	0.04 (0.00, 0.09)	0.01 (0.00, 0.01)	0.05 (0.00, 0.10)
Physical Activity, n=2310			
University college \geq 4 years	0 (Reference)	0 (Reference)	0 (Reference)
University college < 4 years	0.01 (-0.04, 0.06)	0.00 (0.00, 0.00)	0.01 (-0.04, 0.06)
Upper Secondary	0.04 (0.00, 0.09)	0.00 (0.00, 0.00)	0.05 (0.00, 0.09)
Primary	0.05 (0.00, 0.10)	0.00 (0.00, 0.01)	0.05 (0.00, 0.10)
Smoking, n=2310			
University college \geq 4 years	0 (Reference)	0 (Reference)	0 (Reference)
University college < 4 years	0.01 (-0.03, 0.06)	0.00 (-0.01, 0.00)	0.01 (-0.04, 0.06)
Upper Secondary	0.05 (0.00, 0.09)	0.00 (-0.01, 0.00)	0.05 (0.00, 0.09)
Primary	0.06 (0.01, 0.11)	0.00 (-0.01, 0.01)	0.05 (0.00, 0.10)

¹Body mass index, smoking history, and level of physical activity.

²Adjusted for age, family history of diabetes, and sex.

Table 9 shows that there is a statistically significant association between the diagnosis of diabetes and the number of GP consultations in the 12 months prior to Tromsø 6 in participants with prediabetes adjusted for age, sex, family history of diabetes, smoking history, BMI, and level of physical history. Those with 5 or more visits had 74% higher odds of getting diagnosed with diabetes than those with 1 visit, OR = 1.74 (95% CI 1.12, 2.71).

However, as presented in Table 9 in sex-specific models there is not a statistically significant association between the diagnosis of diabetes and the number of GP consultations in the 12

months prior to Tromsø 6 in participants with prediabetes adjusted for age, sex, family history of diabetes, smoking history, BMI, and level of physical history in either women or men.

Table 9. Odds ratios for diagnosis of diabetes according to the number of GP consultations over the 12 months prior to Tromsø 6 overall and by sex^1 , The Tromsø Study 2007 - 2016

Number of GP consultations	OR (95% CI)	p-value
Overall, n=1835		
1 visit	1 (Reference)	
2 visits	1.18 (0.75, 1.86)	0.474
3 or 4 visits	1.43 (0.93, 2.19)	0.100
5 or more visits	1.74 (1.12, 2.71)	0.014
Women, n=885		
1 visit	1 (Reference)	
2 visits	1.20 (0.58, 2.49)	0.627
3 or 4 visits	1.70 (0.87, 3.33)	0.120
5 or more visits	1.89 (0.93, 3.81)	0.077
Men, n=950		
1 visit	1 (Reference)	
2 visits	1.17 (0.65, 2.09)	0.606
3 or 4 visits	1.23 (0.70, 2.16)	0.483
5 or more visits	1.66 (0.92, 2.95)	0.087

OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval

¹Adjusted for age, family history of diabetes, smoking history, BMI, level of physical activity, and in the overall sex.

As shown in Table 10 there is not a statistically significant association between change in HbA1c and the number of GP consultations over the 12 months prior to Tromsø 6 in participants with prediabetes adjusted for age, sex, family history of diabetes, smoking history, BMI, and level of physical history. This lack of a statistically significant association persisted in sex-specific models.

Number of GP consultations	β (95% CI)	p-value
Overall, n=1835		
1 visit	0 (Reference)	
2 visits	0.03 (-0.02, 0.07)	0.30
3 or 4 visits	0.03 (-0.01, 0.08)	0.15
5 or more visits	0.02 (-0.03, 0.07)	0.44
Women, n=885		
1 visit	0 (Reference)	
2 visits	0.02 (-0.04, 0.09)	0.52
3 or 4 visits	0.04 (-0.03, 0.10)	0.28
5 or more visits	0.02 (-0.05, 0.10)	0.51
Men, n=950		
1 visit	0 (Reference)	
2 visits	0.03 (-0.04, 0.09)	0.44
3 or 4 visits	0.02 (-0.04, 0.09)	0.48
5 or more visits	0.02 (-0.05, 0.09)	0.64

Table 10. Linear Regression coefficients for the association between the change in HbA1c levels and the number of GP consultations over the 12 months prior to Tromsø 6 overall and by sex^1 , The Tromsø Study 2007 - 2016

 β , coefficient, CI, Confidence Interval

¹Adjusted for age, family history of diabetes, smoking history, BMI, level of physical activity, and in the overall sex.

DISCUSSION

Diagnosis of Diabetes

Summary

The results show that there was a significant association between the diagnosis of diabetes at follow up (Tromsø 7) and education in participants that had prediabetes at baseline in Tromsø 6. This was statistically significant in those with an upper secondary level of education having 54% higher odds of diagnosis of diabetes relative to those with four or more years of college/university level of education. However, the associations were not significant in sexspecific models. This association was seen to be partly explained by factors other than education mainly BMI which explained 38% of the effect.

Our results compared to previous studies.

While to my knowledge there has not been an exactly similar study done looking at the diagnosis of diabetes in those who had been identified as having prediabetes, we can draw upon the existing literature to contextualize our study. For example, previous studies have examined the relationship between the diagnosis of diabetes and several factors including education such as a study utilizing the Tromsø study between 1994 and 2005 showing an association between education and diagnosis of diabetes with 54% to 74% higher odds of diabetes in women and men respectively with primary education relative to those with 4 or more years of college/university education (22). This shows a slightly stronger association between education and diagnosis of diabetes than my results but similarly shows that those with lower levels of education had higher odds of being diagnosed with diabetes. Furthermore, another population-based study based in Oslo between 2000 and 2002 had a similar outcome with participants with lower levels of education having a 68% to 78% higher odds of being diagnosed with diabetes (21). Similarly, this study shows a stronger association between education and diagnosis of diabetes than my results. These stronger associations might mean that over the last few years, there has been a decrease in this relationship in Norway, especially in Northern Norway. However, contrary to this study the aforementioned studies do not specifically include people with prediabetes as such the effects of education are not limited to those with prediabetes.

Change in HbA1c levels between Tromsø 6 and Tromsø 7.

Summary

At baseline, the participants in this study had an HbA1c level in the prediabetic range. When we look at the change in the level between Tromsø 6 and Tromsø 7 we are examining the management of the participant's blood glucose and its impacts on the prevention of diabetic complications. This change was mostly an increase in HbA1c levels with a mean increase of 0.095 which is a slight increase in HbA1c levels over the period between the two surveys.

The results present that there is a statistically significant relationship between education and change in HbA1c levels between Tromsø 6 and 7 in participants with prediabetes during Tromsø 6 with a 0.06-unit change in HbA1c levels in participants with the lowest levels of education compared to those with the highest. Moreover, it was found to only be statistically significant in men with lower levels of education having an increase of 0.08 units in HbA1c levels between Tromsø 6 and 7. The overall change in HbA1c levels between Tromsø 6 and 7 was seen to be partly explained by factors other than education mainly by BMI which explained 20% of the effect.

Our results compared to previous studies.

We can use the existing literature to provide context for our study. For example, a previous study has examined the relationship between the change in HbA1c levels and a few factors including education. A study based in the United States done among participants with prediabetes and risk factors for change in HbA1c levels over 1 year found that a higher level of education was associated with the change in HbA1c levels by a factor of -0.25 units (32). However, contrary to the results of our study the study showed a decrease in HbA1c levels in the association between education in participants with prediabetes. This could be due to the short follow-up period, or the sample used for the study being from a healthcare setting which might have led this sample to have had an intervention that is not taken into consideration. Furthermore, the 7-year duration between our two surveys could be associated with numerous changes in lifestyle and medical conditions and compounded by the fact that HbA1c levels show us the level of glycemic control over the 3 months prior to the test.

Healthcare Consumption

Summary

The results show that the association between the number of GP consultations in the 12 months prior to Tromsø 6 and the diagnosis of diabetes in participants was only statistically significant in participants with five or more visits relative to those with only 1 visit. This could be due to participants being screened as having an elevated risk for diabetes or being diagnosed with diabetes consumption as is attested by the increase in the number of GP visits in those participants who developed diabetes and having more follow-ups or due to other illnesses leading to increased healthcare consumption. However, the glycemic control of participants represented by the change in HbA1c levels between Tromsø 6 and 7 was not found to be significantly associated with the number of GP consultations in the 12 months prior to Tromsø 6. We would expect a decrease or stability in the HbA1c levels between Tromsø 6 and 7 if the participants had been identified and were being managed for prediabetes to prevent the development of diabetes and diabetic complications.

Our results compared to previous studies.

A previous study based in Ireland shows that there is a positive association between diabetes and the frequency of GP visits (40). While another study also based in Ireland shows that there is not a statistically significant association between the number of GP visits and the diagnosis of diabetes (38). Furthermore, a study based in the Netherlands looking at patient characteristics including the number of GP visits for diabetes in the 12 months prior to the study did not have a statistically significant association with HbA1c levels (39). In addition, a Finnish study looking at primary healthcare interventions and their association with improvement in glucose tolerance found that there was not a statistically significant association (41).

Even though these studies are not population-based, and some included targeted interventions the association of healthcare consumption was only associated with the diagnosis of diabetes in participants with many visits. While there does not seem to be a significant association between healthcare consumption and glycemic control in the studies in congruence with this thesis's results.

Limitations

Selection Bias: The Tromsø study has been noted to have participants that tend to be more likely female, rural residents, living with someone/married, employed, healthier with a lower prevalence of several chronic diseases, have a healthier lifestyle, and have a somewhat higher education level compared to the total Tromsø population (61).

The Results of this thesis are based on a large sample of the prediabetic population in the Tromsø municipality. However, ethnic minorities are under-represented as such there might be issues with generalizability. The living standards and healthcare systems in Tromsø are similar to those in the rest of Norway. Conversely, as the sample population was 30 years and older with the majority being between the ages of 50 and 79 these results are representative of the prediabetic population over the age of thirty and are generalizable to this demographic in Norway and other places with similar living standards and healthcare systems.

Recall Bias: As some of the predictors are based on self-reported responses requiring accurate recall of potentially confusing questions there is a possibility of misremembering. This is especially relevant to the number of GP consultations in the 12 months prior and physical activity. As well as on the history of diabetes as participants may classify several types of diseases as Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus including Diabetes insipidus as well as other diseases with temporary insulin insufficiency or resistance.

Another potential risk is the risk of misclassification in the diagnosis of participants was the use of a compiled variable with a history of diabetes classified as those that currently have diabetes, those that do not, and those with a history of diabetes. A description of those that had a history of diabetes is not clear and can include other types of diabetes or diseases which cause transient symptoms of insulin insufficiency or resistance could be included.

Furthermore, as we used the number of GP consultations in the 12 months prior to Tromsø 6 as one of the exposures for this study in the 7-year gap between Tromsø 6 and 7 there could be a varying number of GP consultations therefore this could impact the interpretation of the results. In addition, in this study for the assessment of healthcare consumption the use of the number of GP consultations might miss those that could be consulting with other types of healthcare

workers such as specialists. The 7-year gap between the HbA1c measures could be misleading as HbA1c measures the glycemic control over the 3 months prior to it and the lengthy period between the two surveys there could have been huge variability in HbA1c levels due to a myriad of lifestyle changes including diet and exercise as well as pharmacological management.

Statistical analysis: A number of variables were grouped to increase the power of the analysis such as the number of GP consultations which were grouped into quartiles but initially didn't have a normal distribution. Grouping of continuous variables assumes that there is homogeneity within groups which may not be the case as those grouped with 5 or more visits to the GP includes those with a much higher number of visits (55 being the maximum). Furthermore, there is also difficulty comparing it with other studies as other studies use different parameters for grouping cases.

Residual confounding: There is a possibility that there are variables unaccounted for that affect the relationship between the predictors and the outcomes.

On the other hand, the variable used as a proxy for socioeconomic factors was education which has been shown to influence the outcomes but other socioeconomic factors such as income could have an effect that was not observed in this thesis.

Strengths

This thesis is based on a cohort of the Tromsø study from two consecutive surveys giving it a large population-based sample and a high number of HbA1c measurements that were standardized. Furthermore, the compiled diagnosis of diabetes was based on a combination of factors including self-reported diabetes, use of insulin and glucose-lowering medications as well as an HbA1c level within the diabetic range which strengthen the sensitivity of the outcome measurement including diagnosed and undiagnosed participants with diabetes.

The 7-year gap between the exposure and the outcome is useful in that diabetes is a chronic disease and the longer follow-up period allows us to see the impact over a longer time.

CONCLUSION

The results show that there is a socioeconomic impact on the diagnosis of diabetes and the glycemic management of people with prediabetes while the effect of healthcare consumption on the progression of the disease in people with prediabetes is not recognized. This alludes to the need to look deeper at the potential causes of healthcare consumption's relationship with blood glucose management. This might entail the need for more targeted interventions among those with prediabetes. Further studies are necessary with more regular follow-ups to assess how the predictors affect the progression of diabetes and blood glucose management especially in people with prediabetes as it is an important screening tool to prevent diabetic complications.

REFERENCES

- Committee ADAPP. 2. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2022. Diabetes Care [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Sep 13];45(Supplement_1):S17–38. Available from: https://diabetesjournals.org/care/article/45/Supplement_1/S17/138925/2-Classificationand-Diagnosis-of-Diabetes
- Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. Handbook of Clinical Pediatric Endocrinology [Internet]. 2012 Apr 13 [cited 2023 May 10];267–95. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/9781119968153.ch13
- HEARTS D: diagnosis and management of type 2 diabetes [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jan 12]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/who-ucn-ncd-20.1
- Solli O, Jenssen T, Kristiansen IS. Diabetes: Cost of illness in Norway. BMC Endocr Disord [Internet]. 2010 Sep 20 [cited 2022 Sep 14];10(1):1–8. Available from: https://bmcendocrdisord.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1472-6823-10-15
- 5. Diabetes in Norway NIPH [Internet]. [cited 2022 Sep 13]. Available from: https://www.fhi.no/en/op/hin/health-disease/diabetes-in-norway---public-health-/
- Sørensen M, Arneberg F, Line TM, Berg TJ. Cost of diabetes in Norway 2011. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2016 Dec 1;122:124–32.
- 7. Slåtsve KB, Claudi T, Lappegård KT, Jenum AK, Larsen M, Cooper JG, et al. The total prevalence of diagnosed diabetes and the quality of diabetes care for the adult population in Salten, Norway. Scand J Public Health [Internet]. 2022 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Sep 13];50(2):161–71. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1403494820951004?url_ver=Z39.88-2003&rfr_id=ori%3Arid%3Acrossref.org&rfr_dat=cr_pub++0pubmed
- Schmidt AM. Diabetes Mellitus and Cardiovascular Disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol [Internet]. 2019 Apr 1 [cited 2022 Sep 13];39(4):558–68. Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/abs/10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.310961

- Papatheodorou K, Banach M, Bekiari E, Rizzo M, Edmonds M. Complications of Diabetes 2017. J Diabetes Res [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 Sep 13];2018. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5866895/
- Martín-Merino E, Fortuny J, Rivero-Ferrer E, García-Rodríguez LA. Incidence of Retinal Complications in a Cohort of Newly Diagnosed Diabetic Patients. PLoS One [Internet].
 2014 Jun 25 [cited 2022 Oct 3];9(6):e100283. Available from: https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0100283
- Giovannucci E, Harlan DM, Archer MC, Bergenstal RM, Gapstur SM, Habel LA, et al. Diabetes and Cancer: A consensus report. Diabetes Care [Internet]. 2010 Jul [cited 2022 Sep 13];33(7):1674. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2890380/
- Ogunleye AA, Ogston SA, Morris AD, Evans JMM. A cohort study of the risk of cancer associated with type 2 diabetes. Br J Cancer [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2022 Oct 3];101(7):1199–201. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19690547/
- Shah AD, Langenberg C, Rapsomaniki E, Denaxas S, Pujades-Rodriguez M, Gale CP, et al. Type 2 diabetes and incidence of cardiovascular diseases: a cohort study in 1.9 million people. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol [Internet]. 2015 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Oct 3];3(2):105. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4303913/
- 14. Cosentino F, Grant PJ, Aboyans V, Bailey CJ, Ceriello A, Delgado V, et al. 2019 ESC Guidelines on diabetes, pre-diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases developed in collaboration with the EASDThe Task Force for diabetes, pre-diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD). Eur Heart J [Internet]. 2020 Jan 7 [cited 2022 Nov 1];41(2):255–323. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/eurheartj/article/41/2/255/5556890
- Naseribafrouei A, Eliassen BM, Melhus M, Svartberg J, Broderstad AR. Prevalence of prediabetes and type 2 diabetes mellitus among Sami and non-Sami men and women in Northern Norway – The SAMINOR 2 Clinical Survey. Int J Circumpolar Health [Internet].
 2018 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Nov 6];77(1). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5917894/

- Yip WCY, Sequeira IR, Plank LD, Poppitt SD. Prevalence of Pre-Diabetes across Ethnicities: A Review of Impaired Fasting Glucose (IFG) and Impaired Glucose Tolerance (IGT) for Classification of Dysglycaemia. Nutrients [Internet]. 2017 Nov 22 [cited 2022 Nov 6];9(11). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5707745/
- Sherwani SI, Khan HA, Ekhzaimy A, Masood A, Sakharkar MK. Significance of HbA1c Test in Diagnosis and Prognosis of Diabetic Patients. Biomark Insights [Internet]. 2016 Jul 3 [cited 2022 Nov 6];11:95. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4933534/
- IDF Diabetes Atlas 2021 | IDF Diabetes Atlas [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jan 12]. Available from: https://diabetesatlas.org/atlas/tenth-edition/
- Tran AT, Berg TJ, Gjelsvik B, Mdala I, Thue G, Cooper JG, et al. Ethnic and gender differences in the management of type 2 diabetes: A cross-sectional study from Norwegian general practice. BMC Health Serv Res. 2019 Nov 28;19(1).
- Selmer R, Sakshaug S, Skurtveit S, Furu K, Tverdal A. Statin treatment in a cohort of 20 212 men and women in Norway according to cardiovascular risk factors and level of education. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2009 Mar;67(3):355–62.
- 21. Nosrati E, Jenum AK, Tran AT, Marmot SM, King LP. Ethnicity and place: the geography of diabetes inequalities under a strong welfare state. Eur J Public Health [Internet]. 2018 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Oct 3];28(1):30–4. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/eurpub/article/28/1/30/4430790
- 22. Joseph J, Svartberg J, Schirmer H. Incidence of and risk factors for type-2 diabetes in a general population: The Tromsø Study. https://doi.org/101177/1403494810380299
 [Internet]. 2010 Aug 9 [cited 2022 Oct 3];38(7):768–75. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1403494810380299?url_ver=Z39.88-2003&rfr_id=ori%3Arid%3Acrossref.org&rfr_dat=cr_pub++0pubmed
- 23. Agardh E, Allebeck P, Hallqvist J, Moradi T, Sidorchuk A. Type 2 diabetes incidence and socio-economic position: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Epidemiol [Internet].

2011 Jun [cited 2022 Oct 3];40(3):804–18. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21335614/

- 24. Tran AT, Diep LM, Cooper JG, Claudi T, Straand J, Birkeland K, et al. Quality of care for patients with type 2 diabetes in general practice according to patients' ethnic background: a cross-sectional study from Oslo, Norway. BMC Health Serv Res [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2022 Oct 9];10. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20507647/
- Brekke KR, Holmås TH, Monstad K, Straume OR. Socio-economic status and physicians' treatment decisions. Health Econ [Internet]. 2018 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Oct 3];27(3):e77–89. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/hec.3621
- 26. Naseribafrouei A, Eliassen BM, Melhus M, Svartberg J, Broderstad AR. The prevalence of diabetes mellitus among Sami and non-Sami inhabitants of Northern Norway - The SAMINOR 1 Survey (2003-2004) and the SAMINOR 2 Clinical Survey (2012-2014). Rural Remote Health. 2018;18(4).
- Naseribafrouei A, Eliassen BM, Melhus M, Svartberg J, Broderstad AR. Estimated 8-year cumulative incidence of diabetes mellitus among Sami and non-Sami inhabitants of Northern Norway - The SAMINOR Study. BMC Endocr Disord. 2019 Jun 24;19(1).
- 28. Naseribafrouei A, Eliassen BM, Melhus M, Broderstad AR. Ethnic difference in the prevalence of pre-diabetes and diabetes mellitus in regions with sami and non-sami populations in Norway - The SAMINOR1 study. Int J Circumpolar Health. 2016 Aug 8;75.
- Association AD. 2. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes. Diabetes Care [Internet]. 2015
 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Feb 14];38(Supplement_1):S8–16. Available from: https://diabetesjournals.org/care/article/38/Supplement_1/S8/37298/2-Classification-and-Diagnosis-of-Diabetes
- Elsayed NA, Aleppo G, Aroda VR, Bannuru RR, Brown FM, Bruemmer D, et al. 6.
 Glycemic Targets: Standards of Care in Diabetes—2023. Diabetes Care. 2023 Jan 1;46:S97–110.

- Bae JC, Suh S, Jin SM, Kim SW, Hur KY, Kim JH, et al. Hemoglobin A1c values are affected by hemoglobin level and gender in non-anemic Koreans. J Diabetes Investig [Internet]. 2014 Feb 2 [cited 2023 Apr 25];5(1):60. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4025240/
- Epstein LH, Paluch RA, Stein JS, Mellis AM, Quattrin T, Mastrandrea LD, et al. Role of delay discounting in predicting change in HBA1c for individuals with prediabetes. J Behav Med [Internet]. 2019 Oct 1 [cited 2023 Apr 25];42(5):851–9. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10865-019-00026-3
- Elsayed NA, Aleppo G, Aroda VR, Bannuru RR, Brown FM, Bruemmer D, et al. 9.
 Pharmacologic Approaches to Glycemic Treatment: Standards of Care in Diabetes—2023.
 Diabetes Care. 2023 Jan 1;46(supp):S140–57.
- Elsayed NA, Aleppo G, Aroda VR, Bannuru RR, Brown FM, Bruemmer D, et al. Prevention or Delay of Type 2 Diabetes and Associated Comorbidities: Standards of Care in Diabetes—
 2023. Diabetes Care. 2023 Jan 1;46(supp):S41–8.
- 35. Kaplan GA. Health inequalities and the welfare state: perspectives from social epidemiology. Norsk Epidemiologi. 2007;
- Jenum AK, Claudi T, Cooper JG. Primary care diabetes in Norway. Prim Care Diabetes.
 2008 Dec 1;2(4):203–5.
- Elsayed NA, Aleppo G, Aroda VR, Bannuru RR, Brown FM, Bruemmer D, et al. 8. Obesity and Weight Management for the Prevention and Treatment of Type 2 Diabetes: Standards of Care in Diabetes—2023. Diabetes Care. 2023 Jan 1;46:S128–39.
- 38. Leahy S, O' Halloran AM, O' Leary N, Healy M, McCormack M, Kenny RA, et al. Prevalence and correlates of diagnosed and undiagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus and prediabetes in older adults: Findings from the Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing (TILDA). Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2015 Dec 1;110(3):241–9.
- 39. Goudswaard AN, Stolk RP, Zuithoff P, Rutten GEHM. Patient characteristics do not predict poor glycaemic control in type 2 diabetes patients treated in primary care. Eur J Epidemiol

[Internet]. 2004 Jun [cited 2023 Apr 26];19(6):541–5. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1023/B:EJEP.0000032351.42772.e7

- 40. O'Neill KN, McHugh SM, Tracey ML, Fitzgerald AP, Kearney PM. Health service utilization and related costs attributable to diabetes. Diabetic Medicine [Internet]. 2018 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Apr 26];35(12):1727–34. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/dme.13806
- 41. Rautio N, Jokelainen J, Saaristo T, Oksa H, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S, Peltonen M, et al. Predictors of Success of a Lifestyle Intervention in Relation to Weight Loss and Improvement in Glucose Tolerance Among Individuals at High Risk for Type 2 Diabetes. http://dx.doi.org/101177/2150131912444130 [Internet]. 2012 May 14 [cited 2023 Apr 26];4(1):59–66. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/2150131912444130?url_ver=Z39.88-2003&rfr_id=ori%3Arid%3Acrossref.org&rfr_dat=cr_pub++0pubmed
- Välfärdsforskning N, van der Wel KA, Bergsli H. The Norwegian policy to reduce health inequalities: key challenges. Nordisk välfärdsforskning [Internet]. 2016 Nov 16 [cited 2022 Oct 9];1(01):19–29. Available from: www.idunn.no.
- Mackenbach JP. Health inequalities in Europe. How does Norway compare? Scand J Public Health. 2019 Aug 1;47(6):666–71.
- 44. Strand BH, Steingrímsdóttir ÓA, Grøholt EK, Ariansen I, Graff-Iversen S, Næss Ø. Trends in educational inequalities in cause specific mortality in Norway from 1960 to 2010: A turning point for educational inequalities in cause specific mortality of Norwegian men after the millennium? BMC Public Health. 2014;14.
- 45. Kinge JM, Vallejo-Torres L, Morris S. Income related inequalities in avoidable mortality in norway: A population-based study using data from 1994-2011. Health Policy (New York). 2015 Jul 1;119(7):889–98.
- 46. Kinge JM, Steingrímsdóttir ÓA, Moe JO, Skirbekk V, Næss Ø, Strand BH. Educational differences in life expectancy over five decades among the oldest old in Norway. Age

Ageing [Internet]. 2015 Nov 1 [cited 2022 Oct 3];44(6):1040–5. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26396184/

- 47. Qureshi SA, Kjøllesdal M, Gele A. Health disparities, and health behaviours of older immigrants & native population in Norway. PLoS One. 2022 Jan 1;17(1 January).
- Elsayed NA, Aleppo G, Aroda VR, Bannuru RR, Brown FM, Bruemmer D, et al. 13. Older Adults: Standards of Care in Diabetes—2023. Diabetes Care. 2023 Jan 1;46:S216–29.
- 49. Kirkman MS, Briscoe VJ, Clark N, Florez H, Haas LB, Halter JB, et al. Diabetes in Older Adults. Diabetes Care [Internet]. 2012 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Feb 14];35(12):2650–64. Available from: https://diabetesjournals.org/care/article/35/12/2650/38582/Diabetes-in-Older-Adults
- 50. Khan MAB, Hashim MJ, King JK, Govender RD, Mustafa H, Kaabi J al. Epidemiology of Type 2 Diabetes – Global Burden of Disease and Forecasted Trends. J Epidemiol Glob Health [Internet]. 2020 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Feb 15];10(1):107. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7310804/
- Chen L, Magliano DJ, Zimmet PZ. The worldwide epidemiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus—present and future perspectives. Nature Reviews Endocrinology 2011 8:4 [Internet]. 2011 Nov 8 [cited 2023 Feb 15];8(4):228–36. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/nrendo.2011.183
- 52. Lyssenko V, Almgren P, Anevski D, Perfekt R, Lahti K, Nissén M, et al. Predictors of and Longitudinal Changes in Insulin Sensitivity and Secretion Preceding Onset of Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes [Internet]. 2005 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Feb 15];54(1):166–74. Available from: https://diabetesjournals.org/diabetes/article/54/1/166/14643/Predictors-of-and-Longitudinal-Changes-in-Insulin
- 53. Isomaa B, Forsén B, Lahti K, Holmström N, Wadén J, Matintupa O, et al. A family history of diabetes is associated with reduced physical fitness in the Prevalence, Prediction and Prevention of Diabetes (PPP)-Botnia study. Diabetologia [Internet]. 2010 Aug 8 [cited 2023

Feb 15];53(8):1709–13. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00125-010-1776-y

- 54. Groop L, Forsblom C, Lehtovirta M, Tuomi T, Karanko S, Nissén M, et al. Metabolic Consequences of a Family History of NIDDM (The Botnia Study): Evidence for Sex-Specific Parental Effects. Diabetes [Internet]. 1996 Nov 1 [cited 2023 Feb 15];45(11):1585–93. Available from: https://diabetesjournals.org/diabetes/article/45/11/1585/9149/Metabolic-Consequences-of-a-Family-History-of
- 55. Poulsen P, Ohm Kyvik K, Vaag A, Beck-Nielsen H. Heritability of type II (non-insulindependent) diabetes mellitus and abnormal glucose tolerance - A population-based twin study. Diabetologia [Internet]. 1999 [cited 2023 Feb 15];42(2):139–45. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s001250051131
- Elsayed NA, Aleppo G, Aroda VR, Bannuru RR, Brown FM, Bruemmer D, et al. 5.
 Facilitating Positive Health Behaviors and Well-being to Improve Health Outcomes: Standards of Care in Diabetes—2023. Diabetes Care. 2023 Jan 1;46:S68–96.
- Elsayed NA, Aleppo G, Aroda VR, Bannuru RR, Brown FM, Bruemmer D, et al. 15. Management of Diabetes in Pregnancy: Standards of Care in Diabetes—2023. Diabetes Care. 2023 Jan 1;46:S254–66.
- 58. Syed IA. Use of Glycated Haemoglobin (HbA1c) in the Diagnosis of Diabetes Mellitus. World Health Organization [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2022 Sep 14];61(4):383. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK304267/
- 59. Hopstock LA, Grimsgaard S, Johansen H, Kanstad K, Wilsgaard T, Eggen AE. The seventh survey of the Tromsø Study (Tromsø7) 2015-2016: study design, data collection, attendance, and prevalence of risk factors and disease in a multipurpose population-based health survey. Scand J Public Health [Internet]. 2022 Nov 4 [cited 2022 Oct 23];50(7):140349482210922. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35509230/

- Njølstad I, Mathiesen EB, Schirmer H, Thelle DS. The Tromsø study 1974-2016: 40 years of cardiovascular research. Scand Cardiovasc J [Internet]. 2016 Nov 1 [cited 2022 Oct 23];50(5–6):276–81. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27650831/
- 61. Eggen AE, Wilsgaard T, Jacobsen BK, Njølstad I, Mathiesen EB. The sixth survey of the Tromsø Study (Tromsø 6) in 2007–08: Collaborative research in the interface between clinical medicine and epidemiology: Study objectives, design, data collection procedures, and attendance in a multipurpose population-based health survey. Scand J Public Health [Internet]. 2013 Jan 22 [cited 2023 Apr 25];41(1):65–80. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1403494812469851?url_ver=Z39.88-2003&rfr_id=ori%3Arid%3Acrossref.org&rfr_dat=cr_pub++0pubmed